COUNCIL CHAMBER

429 C STREET
LEMOORE January 3, 2023

CALIFORNIA

LEMOORE CITY COUNCIL

MEETING AGENDA

Please silence all electronic devices as a courtesy to those in attendance. Thank you.

5:30 p.m. REGULAR SESSION

CALL TO ORDER

INVOCATION

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS

~aoow

PUBLIC COMMENT

Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is reserved for members of the audience to address
the City Council on items of interest that are not on the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Council. It is
recommended that speakers limit their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during this
period on items on the Agenda. The Council is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are not on the
Agenda. Prior to addressing the Council, any handouts for Council will be provided to the City Clerk for distribution to the Council and
appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the
Mayor opens the item to the public.

CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION — Section 1

No Ceremonies or Presentations.

DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS — Section 2

2-1 Department & City Manager Reports

CONSENT CALENDAR — Section 3

Iltems considered routine in nature are placed on the Consent Calendar. They will all be considered and voted upon in one vote as
one item unless a Council member or member of the public requests individual consideration.

3-1 Approval — Minutes — Regular Meeting — December 6, 2022

3-2  Approval — Resolution 2023-01 — Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing
Provisions (AB 361)

3-3  Approval — Notice of Completion — CIP 5021 — Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade
Structures Project

3-4  Approval — Notice of Completion — CIP 5032 — Citywide School Safety Maintenance
Project



PUBLIC HEARINGS — Section 4

Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken.

4-1 Public Hearing — Resolution 2023-02, Approving the Disposition and Development
Agreement between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the Sale and
Development of City-Owned Surplus Land Located at the Southeast Corner of East D
Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore (APNs 023-020-065 and 023-020-
064) (Brandt)

NEW BUSINESS — Section 5

Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken.

No New Business.

BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS — Section 6

6-1 City Council Reports / Requests

ADJOURNMENT

Upcoming Council Meetings

e City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, January 17, 2023
e  City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, February 7, 2023

Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C Street and
the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the agenda must be
received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date. The City of Lemoore complies with the
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the physically disabled. Should you need
special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to the meeting.

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION

I, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk for the City of Lemoore, declare under penalty of perjury that | posted the
above Regular City Council Agenda for the meeting of January 3, 2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C Street
and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore, CA on December 29, 2022.

IIsll
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk




CITY OF LEMOORE
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
JANUARY 3, 2023 @ 5:30 p.m.

All upcoming regular and special City Council meetings will be open to members of the public
on_a first come, first served basis and via Zoom. The meeting may be viewed through the
following options:

Join Zoom Meeting

Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85488986236?pwd=0OHZSMTFZOWxuUHMyZTRwQzJGVzErUT09
Meeting ID: 854 8898 6236

Passcode: 027287

Phone: +1 669 900 6833

The City will also provide links to streaming options on the City’s website and on its Facebook
page.

If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public
comments by e-mail to: cityclerk@lemoore.com. In the subject line of the e-mail, please state
your name and the item you are commenting on. If you wish to submit a public comment on more
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on. Please
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information.
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.

General Public Comments & Comments on City Council Business Items

For general public comments and comments regarding specific City Council Business Items,
public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must be
received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. Comments received by this time
will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker. Any portion
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will
be made to read your comment into the record. However, staff cannot guarantee that written
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read. All written comments that are not read into the
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior
to the end of the City Council meeting.

Public Hearings

For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the
public hearing period. All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker. Any portion of your



comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions. If a
comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end
of the meeting.

*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT
SPECIFY A PARTICULAR AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE
GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.*

The City thanks you for your cooperation in advance. Our community’s health and safety is our
highest priority.



ltem 3-1

December 6, 2022 Minutes
Lemoore City Council Meeting
Study Session Meeting

CALL TO ORDER:
At 5:30 p.m., the meeting was called to order.

ROLL CALL: Mayor: LYONS
Mayor Pro Tem: MATTHEWS
Council Members: CHANEY, ORTH
Absent: GORNICK

City Staff and contract employees present: City Manager Olson; City Attorney Lerner; Public
Works Director Rivera; Police Chief Kendall, Management Analyst Baley; Community Services
Manager Greenlee; Maintenance Worker Miller; City Clerk Avalos.

STUDY SESSION

SS-1  Broadband Deployment (Gornick)

Frank Gornick with San Joaquin Broadband provided a presentation in regards to broadband
deployment which included:
» The Consortium is located at CSU Fresno which is supported and partners with CETF
and the SJBN.
» SB 156 was signed by Governor Newsom in 2021
o Broadband for all
> Key aspects of SB 156
o A focus on improving and providing internet access to the most unserved and
undeserved residents of California
= Affordable
= |ncreased speeds and reliability
= Digital literacy
o Expands current laws and creates new law to assist cities, counties and non-
profits with flexibility in financing, bonding, and loan capacity to achieve greater
adoption rates among residents.
o Within the Department of Technology
= New office of digital literacy
= Create a statewide open-access middle-mile broadband network
= Expects CEQA, linear broadband projects
= California Advanced Services Fund (CASF)
e Economic Growth
Job Creation
Social Benefits of Advanced Communications and Technologies
Public Housing Benefits
Broadband Loan Loss Reserve Fund
The bill eliminates redlining by carriers



December 6, 2022 Minutes
Lemoore City Council Meeting
Regular Session Meeting

CALL TO ORDER:
At 5:30 p.m., the meeting was called to order.

ROLL CALL: Mayor: LYONS
Mayor Pro Tem: MATTHEWS
Council Members: CHANEY, ORTH
Absent: GORNICK

City Staff and contract employees present: City Manager Olson; City Attorney Lerner; Public
Works Director Rivera; Police Chief Kendall, Management Analyst Baley; Community Services
Manager Greenlee; Maintenance Worker Miller; Recreation Coordinator Soto; Recreation
Coordinator Upadhyay; Fire Chief German; Management Analyst Reeder; Maintenance
Coordinator Machado; City Clerk Avalos.

AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS

No agenda additions or deletions.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Alex Walker with Lemoore Rotary stated that dictionaries are being delivered to the schools. Kids
are very excised to receive them. They have been working with the local schools to determine
how many dictionaries are needed.

CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION — Section 1

1-1 Lemoore Volunteer Firefighter of the Year (American Legion)

American Legion Post 100 presented the Lemoore Volunteer Firefighter of the Year award to
Stuart Lyons.

1-2  Appreciation Award for David Brown (Olson)
City staff presented Mr. David Brown an appreciation award for his community service.

DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS — Section 2

Police Chief Kendall stated that Reserve Officer Ortiz is being sworn in on Thursday, December
8" Last day for shopping for Presents on Patrol is December 10". December 13" will be gift
wrapping at the Police Department. Presents on Patrol is December 20™.

Community Services Manager Greenlee presented a metal to Mayor Pro Tem Matthews for
coming in 2™ at the Veterans Day run. The Jingle and Mingle event was a success. Approximately
1,000 people attended. There were 24 vendors and 12 “Discover Lemoore” merchants. Mayor
Lyons picked a winning ticker for the raffle. He thanked LVFD for providing the tree. He also
thanked Maintenance, Recreation and Refuse staff. Breakfast with Santa is December 10" from
8:00 a.m. to 11:00 a.m.



City Manager Olson stated that there will be a Downtown Roundtable meeting with Council
Member Orth and Mayor Pro Tem Matthews on December 13" at 5:30 p.m. The City Clerk is
taking RSVPs. Attended the swearing in ceremony for Devin Matthis with Mayor Pro Tem
Matthews. He expressed gratitude for all the holiday events that have happened. He thanked our
sponsors for the events. He congratulated Mr. Lyons for his award.

CONSENT CALENDAR — Section 3

1 Approval — Minutes — Regular Meeting — November 15, 2022

-2 Approval — Resolution 2022-41 — Authorizing Continued Use of Remote Teleconferencing
Provisions (AB 361)

3-3  Approval — Budget Amendment — Upfitting of Two Police Vehicles

3-4  Approval — Budget Amendment — Additional Funds for Street Light Improvements

3-5  Approval — Change Order — CIP 5508 — Hess Basin Channel Drainage

3-6  Approval — Notice of Completion — CIP 5508 — Hess Basin Channel Drainage

3-7  Approval — Budget Amendment and Agreement between the City of Lemoore and

Motorola Solutions for the Purchase and Implementation of Dispatch Communication and

9-1-1 Call Taking Equipment

3-8  Approval — Bid Award — Cimarron Lift Station — CIP 5309

3-9  Approval — Notice of Completion — CIP 5705 — Downtown Parking Lot Project

3-10 Approval — Budget Amendment — Lemoore Police Shoe Drive

Item 3-3 was pulled for separate consideration.

Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, seconded by Council Member Gornick, to approve the
Consent Calendar, except Item 3-3.

Ayes: Matthews, Gornick, Chaney, Orth, Lyons
3-3 Approval — Budget Amendment — Upfitting of Two Police Vehicles

Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, to approve the Budget
Amendment, Upfitting of Two Police Vehicles.

Ayes: Orth, Matthews, Chaney, Gornick, Lyons

PUBLIC HEARINGS — Section 4

4-1 Public Hearing — Resolution 2022-42 — Amending the Master User Fee Schedule to
Revise and Update Fees Associated with Facility and Park Rentals (Greenlee)

Public Hearing opened at: 6:25 p.m.

Spoke: Jennifer Solis

Public Hearing closed at: 6:28 p.m.

Motion by Council Member Gornick, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, to approve
Resolution 2022-42, Amending the Master User Fee Schedule to Revise and Update Fees

Associated with Facility and Park Rentals.

Ayes: Gornick, Matthews, Chaney, Orth, Lyons



4-2 Public Hearing — Amendment to Military Policy 709 (Kendall)
Public Hearing opened at: 6:31 p.m.

Spoke: Alex Walker
Jennifer Solis

Public Hearing closed at: 6:33 p.m.

Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Council Member Gornick, to approve the
Amendment to Military Policy 709.

Ayes: Orth, Gornick, Chaney, Matthews, Lyons

NEW BUSINESS — Section 5

5-1 Approval — Resolution 2022-43 — Declaring Fact of City Election and Statement of Election
Results for November 8, 2022 (Avalos)

Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Matthews, to approve Resolution
2022-43, Declaring Fact of City Election and Statement of Election Results for November 8, 2022.

Ayes: Orth, Gornick, Chaney, Matthews, Lyons

5-2  Administration of the Oath of Office (Avalos)

City Clerk Avalos administered the Oath to Stuart Lyons and Frank Gornick.

5-3 City Council Reorganization — Election of Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem (Avalos)
City Clerk Avalos opened nominations for Mayor.

Stuart Lyons was nominated by Frank Gornick.
Patricia Matthews was nominated by David Orth.

Motion by Frank Gornick, seconded by Stuart Lyons to appoint Stuart Lyons as Mayor.

Ayes: Gornick, Lyons
Noes: Chaney, Orth, Matthews

Motion by David Orth, seconded by Patricia Matthews to appoint Patricia Matthews as Mayor.

Ayes: Orth, Matthews, Chaney
Noes: Gornick, Lyons

City Clerk Avalos opened nominations for Mayor Pro Tem.

Frank Gornick was nominated by Stuart Lyons.
David Orth was nominated by Patricia Matthews.

Motion by Stuart Lyons, seconded by James Chaney to appoint Frank Gornick as Mayor Pro Tem.

Ayes: Lyons, Chaney, Gornick



Noes: Orth, Matthews

BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS — Section 6

6-1 City Council Reports / Requests

Mayor Lyons thanked Mr. Greenlee and his staff for holding the Jingle and Mingle event
downtown. He also thanked the Chamber for hosting the Christmas parade. He congratulated
Mrs. Matthews and Mr. Gornick.

Council Member Orth thanked City staff and the Chamber for working hard on the Christmas
parade and Jingle and Mingle. He had the opportunity to ride on a fire truck for the Christmas
parade. He congratulated Mayor and Mayor Pro Tem. KART is looking to add a shelter on
Hanford-Armoma Road. He congratulated Mr. Lyons and Mr. Gornick on their reelection.

Council Member Gornick thanked everyone for their good job on the Jingle and Mingle. He stated
that he went by Ray’s Lemonade. He is very impressed. Wished everyone a Merry Christmas.

Mayor Pro Tem Matthews expressed thanks and gratitude for the Fire Department. Congratulated
Mr. Gornick and Mr. Lyons on their reelection.

ADJOURNMENT

At 6:54 p.m., Council adjourned.
Approved the 3" day of January 2023.

APPROVED:

Patricia Matthews, Mayor
ATTEST:

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk



)

Gity of Z:f

1l

LEMOORE

CALIFORNIA

711 W. Cinnamon Drive e Lemoore, California 93245 e (559) 924-6744

Staff Report

Item No: 3-2
To: Lemoore City Council
From: Nathan Olson, City Manager
Date: December 12, 2022 Meeting Date: January 3, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-01 — Authorizing Continued Use of Remote
Teleconferencing Provisions (AB 361)

Strategic Initiative:
(1 Safe & Vibrant Community (1 Growing & Dynamic Economy

[] Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

[ Community & Neighborhood Livability [1 Not Applicable

Proposed Motion:
Approve Resolution 2023-01, Authorizing the City Manager, or designee, to Continue with
Teleconferenced Public Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361.

Subject/Discussion:

On September 16, 2021, the California legislature passed Assembly Bill (“AB”) 361, which
amends Government Code, section 54953 and permits a local agency to use
teleconferencing to conduct its meetings in any of the following circumstances: (A) the
legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local
officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (B) the
legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of
determining, by majority vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; or (C) the legislative body
holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency and has determined, by maijority
vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person
would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees.

In order for the City Council to use teleconferencing as allowed by AB 361 after October 1,
2021, it must first adopt findings in a resolution, allowing the City Council to conduct
teleconferenced meetings for a period of thirty (30) days. The City Council made such
findings on May 23, 2022. In addition, AB 361 requires the City make specified findings
every 30 days thereafter. Such additional findings were made by the City Council on June
15, 2022, July 5, 2022, August 2, 2022, August 16, 2022, September 6, 2022, October 4,
2022. November 1, 2022, November 15, 2022 and December 6, 2022.

10



Financial Consideration(s):
No substantial costs noted.

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Do not continue with virtual meetings.

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not Applicable

Staff Recommendation:
Staff recommends City Council approve Resolution 2023-01, Authorizing the City Manager
to Continue with Teleconferenced Public Meetings Pursuant to Assembly Bill 361.

Attachments: Review: Date:
Resolution: 2023-01 Asst. City Manager 12/27/2022
[ Ordinance: X City Attorney 12/28/2022
O Map City Clerk 12/28/2022
[J Contract [ City Manager

[ Other [J Finance

List:

1"



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-01

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE AUTHORIZING
CONTINUED USE OF REMOTE TELECONFERENCING PROVISIONS (AB 361)

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lemoore (“City Council”) is committed to
open and transparent government, and full compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown
Act”); and

WHEREAS, the Brown Act generally requires that a public agency take certain actions in
order to use teleconferencing to attend a public meeting virtually; and

WHEREAS, the City Council recognizes that a local emergency persists due to the
worldwide COVID-19 pandemic; and

WHEREAS, the California Legislature has recognized the ongoing state of emergency due
to the COVID-19 pandemic and has responded by creating an additional means for public meetings
to be held via teleconference (inclusive of internet-based virtual meetings); and

WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, the California legislature passed Assembly Bill
(“AB”) 361, which amends Government Code, section 54953 and permits a local agency to use
teleconferencing to conduct its meetings in any of the following circumstances: (A) the legislative
body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency, and state or local officials have
imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing; (B) the legislative body holds a
meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote,
whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health
or safety of attendees; or (C) the legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of
emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of
the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees;
and

WHEREAS, in order for the City Council to use teleconferencing as allowed by AB 361
after October 1, 2021, it must first adopt findings in a resolution, allowing the City Council to

conduct teleconferenced meetings for a period of thirty (30) days. Such adoption occurred by the
City Council on May 23, 2022; and

WHEREAS, AB 361 requires the City make specified findings every 30 days thereafter;
and

WHEREAS, such additional findings were made by the City Council on May 23, 2022,
June 15, 2022, July 5, 2022, August 2, 2022. August 16, 2022, September 6, 2022, October 4,
2022, November 1, 2022, November 15, 2022 and December 6, 2022 with the approval of
Resolutions No. 2022-22, 2022-25, 2022-29, 2022-33, 2022-34, 2022-35, 2022-37, 2022-39,
2022-40 and 2022-41; and

12



WHEREAS, Governor Gavin Newsom declared a state of emergency for the State of
California due to the COVID-19 pandemic in his order entitled “Proclamation of a State of
Emergency,” signed March 4, 2020; and/or

WHEREAS, the California Occupational and Safety Health Administration (OSHA)
continues to recommend certain social distancing requirements, as described in detail in California
Code of Regulations Title 8, section 3205 Covid Prevention; and/or

WHEREAS, the County of Kings Department of Public Health in its August 28, 2021
press release urged “...everyone to physical distance themselves from others...” and further
recommends as a “very effective” step that people can take: “Stay in your home as much as
possible. The only exceptions should be for getting food and/or necessary household supplies,
medications and medical treatments.”

WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds that the state and local emergencies have
caused and will continue to cause imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees; and

WHEREAS, the City Council is conducting its meetings through the use of telephonic and
internet-based services so that members of the public may observe and participate in meetings and
offer public comment.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals set forth above are true and
correct and fully incorporated into this Resolution by reference.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council is conducting meetings during a
state of emergency and OSHA recommends measures to promote social distancing; and/or

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the City Council has determined that given the state
of emergency, holding in-person only meetings would present imminent risks to the health or
safety of attendees.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the actions taken by the City Council through this
resolution shall be applied to all City committees governed by the Brown Act unless otherwise
desired by that committee.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City Council authorizes the City Manager or their
designee(s) to take all actions necessary to continue to conduct City Council meetings in
accordance with Government Code section 54953(e) and all other applicable provisions of the
Brown Act, using teleconferencing for a period of thirty (30) days from the adoption of this
Resolution after which the City Council will again reconsider the circumstances of the state of
emergency.

13



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Lemoore City Council on this 3™ day of January 2023,
by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
ATTEST: APPROVED:
Marisa Avalos Patricia Matthews

City Clerk Mayor

14



)

—————————————— W

LEMOORE

CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive e Lemoore, California 93245 e (559) 924-6700

Staff Report
Item No: 3-3
To: Lemoore City Council
From: Frank Rivera, Public Works Director
Date: December 20, 2022 Meeting Date: January 3, 2023

Subject: Notice of Completion — CIP 5021 — Lemoore Youth Sports Complex
Shade Structures Project

Strategic Initiative:
[ Safe & Vibrant Community (1 Growing & Dynamic Economy

[] Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

(] Community & Neighborhood Livability (1 Not Applicable

Proposed Motion:

Approve the filing of the Notice of Completion for CIP 5021 — Lemoore Youth Sports
Complex Shade Structures and authorize the City Manager, or designee, to execute the
document for recordation.

Subject/Discussion:
The City of Lemoore awarded the Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade Structures
project to Miracle Play Systems on September 20, 2022.

The project consisted of fourteen (14) shade structures installed at each field, and also
installation of two 30 x 20 shaded areas to allow teams a place to congregate out of the
sun. The project was inspected and will be deemed complete as of January 3, 2023, upon
approval of the City Council.

Financial Consideration(s):
The overall budget and cost of this project was $176,355.

15



Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Pro:

e Filing of the Notice of Completion will allow time for creditors to notify the City of
unpaid bills and allow for the release of some bonds for the Contractor.

Con:
e None noted

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not applicable.

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends that City Council approve the filing of the Notice of Completion for CIP
5021 — Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade Structures and authorize the City
Manager, or designee to execute the document for recordation.

Attachments: Review: Date:

[J Resolution: Asst. City Manager 12/27/2022
[J Ordinance: City Attorney 12/28/2022
O Map City Clerk 12/28/2022
[J Contract [0 City Manager

Other [J Finance

List:  Notice of Completion

16



RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:

City Clerk

City of Lemoore

711 W Cinnamon Drive
Lemoore, CA 93245

No Fee Per Government Code 6103

NOTICE OF COMPLETION

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to Civil Code Section 9204, that the interest or
estate stated below herein in the real property herein described is owned by the CITY OF
LEMOORE and that the City Council of the City of Lemoore, 711 W Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore,
California, entered into an Agreement on December 21, 2021 with Miracle Play Systems for
the Lemoore Youth Sports Complex Shade Structures, located at 500 N. 19" Ave., in the City
of Lemoore in Kings County, California 93245. Such work has been completed and accepted
by the City of Lemoore on the 3™ day of January.

CITY OF LEMOORE

Nathan Olson, City Manager
ATTEST:

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

CERTIFICATE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

I, Frank Rivera, am the Public Works Director of the City of Lemoore. | have read the
foregoing Notice of Completion and know the contents thereof, and | certify that the same is
true of my knowledge except for those matters stated upon information and belief, and as to
those matters, | believe them to be true and correct. | certify under penalty of perjury that the
foregoing is true and correct.

EXECUTED this day of , 2022 at Lemoore, California.

Frank Rivera
Public Works Director
City of Lemoore

17



PUBLIC AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

On before me, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk,
personally appeared Nathan Olson, proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
he executed the same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the instrument,
the person or the entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

PUBLIC AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

On before me, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk,
personally appeared Frank Rivera, proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be
the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that
he executed the same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the instrument,
the person or the entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

18



)

A\

LEMOORE

CALIFORNIA

711 West Cinnamon Drive e Lemoore, California 93245 e (559) 924-6700

Staff Report
Item No: 3-4
To: Lemoore City Council
From: Randon Reeder, Management Analyst
Date: December 8, 2022 Meeting Date: January 3, 2022
Subject: Notice of Completion — CIP 5032 — Citywide School Safety Maintenance
Project

Strategic Initiative:

(1 Safe & Vibrant Community (1 Growing & Dynamic Economy

[ Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

[ Community & Neighborhood Livability [1 Not Applicable

Proposed Motion:

Approve the filing of the Notice of Completion for CIP 5032 — Citywide School Safety
Maintenance Project and authorize the City Manager, or designee, to execute the
document for recordation.

Subject/Discussion:
The City of Lemoore awarded the Citywide School Safety Project to Central Valley
Striping on September 20, 2022.

The project consisted of the restriping of crosswalks and slow warning signs in all the
school zones within the City of Lemoore. The schools included in the project were
Cinnamon Elementary, Freedom Elementary, Lemoore Elementary, Lemoore High,
Liberty Middle School, Mary Immaculate Queen, Meadow Lane Elementary, P.W. Engvall
Elementary, and West Hills College. The project was inspected and will be deemed
complete as of January 3, 2022, upon approval of the City Council.

Financial Consideration(s):
The overall budget and cost of this project was $48,960.

19



Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Pros:

e Filing of the Notice of Completion will allow time for creditors to notify the City of
unpaid bills and allow for the release of some bonds for the Contractor.

Con:
e None noted

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not applicable.

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends that City Council approve the filing of the Notice of Completion for CIP
5032 — Citywide School Safety Maintenance Project and authorize the City Manager, or
designee to execute the document for recordation.

Attachments: Review: Date:

[J Resolution: Asst. City Manager 12/27/2022
[J Ordinance: City Attorney 12/28/2022
O Map City Clerk 12/28/2022
[J Contract [0 City Manager

Other [J Finance

List:  Notice of Completion

20



RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:

City Clerk

City of Lemoore

711 W Cinnamon Drive
Lemoore, CA 93245

No Fee Per Government Code 6103

NOTICE OF COMPLETION

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN, pursuant to Civil Code Section 9204, that the interest
or estate stated below herein in the real property herein described is owned by the CITY
OF LEMOORE and that the City Council of the City of Lemoore, 711 W Cinnamon Drive,
Lemoore, California, entered into an Agreement on September 26, 2022 with Central
Valley Striping for the Citywide School Safety Maintenance Project, located in various
areas as shown in the attached Exhibit A, in the City of Lemoore in Kings County,
California 93245. Such work has been completed and accepted by the City of Lemoore
on the 6™ day of December.

CITY OF LEMOORE

Nathan Olson, City Manager
ATTEST:

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

CERTIFICATE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

I, Frank Rivera, am the Public Works Director of the City of Lemoore. | have read
the foregoing Notice of Completion and know the contents thereof, and | certify that the
same is true of my knowledge except for those matters stated upon information and belief,
and as to those matters, | believe them to be true and correct. | certify under penalty of
perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

21



EXECUTED this day of ., 2022 at Lemoore,
California.

Frank Rivera
Public Works Director
City of Lemoore

PUBLIC AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

On before me, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk,
personally appeared Nathan Olson, proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to
be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to
me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the
instrument, the person or the entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the
instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

PUBLIC AGENCY ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA )
COUNTY OF KINGS ) Ss.
CITY OF LEMOORE )

On before me, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk,
personally appeared Frank Rivera, proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to
be the person whose name is subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to
me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity, and that by his signature on the

22



instrument, the person or the entity upon behalf of which the person acted, executed the
instrument.

| certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the
foregoing paragraph is true and correct.

Marisa Avalos, City Clerk

23



Exhibit A

24



W. Hanford-Armona Rd. and Pistache Ave.

Plum Circle and N. 19t Ave.
Noble St. and N. 19 Ave.
Freedom Dr. and N. 19t Ave.

W. Cinnamon Dr. and N. 19*" Ave.
W. D St. and N. 19t Ave.

W. Bush St. and College Ave.

W. Bush St. and Belle Haven Dr.
Cedar Ln. and S. 19%" Ave.

Cherry Ln. and S. 19" Ave.
Silverado Dr. and S. 19%" Ave.
lona Ave. and S. 19%" Ave.

lona Ave. and Golf Links Dr.
Cedar Ln. and Kenwood Dr.
Cedar Ln. and Lum Dr.

. Bush St. and Willow Dr.

. Bush St. and Linda Ln.

. Bush St. and N. Byron Dr.

. Bush St. and N. Cambridge Dr.
. Bush St. and N. Olive St.

. Cinnamon Dr. and American Ave.
. Cinnamon Dr. and Liberty Dr.
Nation Way and Liberty Dr.
Fallenleaf Dr. and Liberty Dr.
Avalon Dr. and Liberty Dr.

W. Cinnamon Dr. and Cardiff Ave.
W. Spruce Ave. and Antelope Dr.
W. Burlwood Ln. and Antelope Dr.
W. Spring Ln and Antelope Dr.

W. Hanford-Armona Rd. and Fox St.
W. Cinnamond Dr. and Fox St.
“E” St. and Fox St.

W. D St. and Hill St.

W. Bush St. and Martin St.

W. Bush St. and Hill St.

B St. and Hill St.

C St. and Hill St.

W. D St. and Fox St.

C St. and Fox St.

B St. and Fox St.

W. Bush St. and Fox St.
Lombardy Ln. and Vine St.

Ash St. and Vine St.

Skaggs St. and Champion St.

W. Bush St. and Champion St.

W. Bush St. and Fox St.

W. Bush St. and Heinlen St.

-

25



W. D St. and Heinlen St.
Larish St. and 18" Ave.
Toomey St. and 18" Ave.
Skaggs St. and 18™ Ave.

W. Bush and Follett St.

B St. and Follett St.

C St. and Follett St.

W. D St. and Follett St.

W. Cinnamon and Follett St.

W. Hanford-Armona Rd. and Fox St.

W. Bush and 18" Ave.

D St. and 18" Ave.

W. D St. and Armstrong St.
G St. and Follett St.
Cinnamon Dr. and 18" Ave.
Devon Dr. and 18™ Ave.
Club Dr. and 18 Ave.

Hanford-Armona Rd. and 18 Ave.

W. Burlwood Ln. and 18" Ave.
E. Hazelwood Dr. and 18™ Ave.
Faun Dr. and 18 Ave.
Spruce Ave. and 18" Ave.
Glendale Ave. and 18 Ave.
E. Spruce Ave. and Quandt Dr.
Meadow Ln. and Quandt. Dr.
Quandt. Pl and Quandt. Dr.
Faun Dr. and Quandt. Dr.

. Bush St. and Powell Ave.

. D St. and Smith Ave.

. Cinnamon Dr. and Venice Ave.

. Cinnamon Dr. and Balboa Ave.
. Burlwood Ln. and Sara Dr.
. Hazelwood Dr. and Sara Dr.
Davis PIl. and Sara Dr.
Meadow Ln. and Sara Dr.

E
E
E
E. Cinnamon Dr. and Valencia Ave.
E
E
E

Meadow Ln. and Mary Dr.
E. Spruce Ave. and Mary Dr.

E. Hanford-Armona Rd. and Pebble Dr.
E. Hanford-Armona Rd. and Opal Dr.

26



)

—————— &9

LEMOORE

CALIFORNIA

711 W. Cinnamon Drive e Lemoore, California 93245 e (559) 924-6744

Staff Report
Item No: 4-1
To: Lemoore City Council
From: Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: December 16, 2022 Meeting Date: January 3, 2022
Subject: Resolution 2023-02, Approving the Disposition and Development

Agreement between City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the
Sale and Development of City-owned Surplus Land Located at the
Southeast Corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue in the City of
Lemoore (APNs 023-020-065 and 023-020-064)

Strategic Initiative:

Safe & Vibrant Community (1 Growing & Dynamic Economy
Fiscally Sound Government (] Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability (] Not Applicable

Proposed Motion:

Adopt Resolution No. 2023-02, approving the disposition and development agreement
between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates, and authorizing the City Manager,
or designee, to execute the disposition and development agreement and associated
documents for the purpose of constructing affordable housing on the property.

Subject/Discussion:

This vacant, City-owned property was originally purchased with monies meant for the
development of affordable housing. The City Council adopted Resolution No. 2021-31 on
December 7, 2021, to declare two parcels owned by the City of Lemoore as Surplus Land
and authorized the City Manager to send surplus land notices of availability to all
appropriate public agencies. This was the first step in a process to sell the city-owned
property located on the southeast corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue (APNs 023-
020-065 and 023-020-064). This action was a required step for the disposition of surplus
properties owned by public agencies to make them available for development in

27



accordance with the Surplus Lands Act (SLA) in State law (Government Code Section
54221 et seq.).

On January 31, 2022, as part of the second step of the required process, the City provided
notification to the CA Housing and Community Development Department (HCD) and local
agencies of intent to sell the surplus property and in accordance with Government Code
Section 54222, provided agencies 60 days from the date of the notification to submit
letters of interest. Three letters were received during the 60-day period which ended
March 31, 2022.

Per the SLA Guidelines, if a local agency disposing of the surplus land receives a timely
notice of interest from a proper entity, then a 90-day good faith negotiation period begins.
There were three affordable housing developers that submitted proposals to purchase
the site and develop it with affordable housing. As part of this negotiation process, the
City created a list of areas that one or more of the proposals may have been lacking
information and sent a request for information letter to the three entities to assist in making
the review as fair as possible. The proposals were then reviewed by a panel made up of
the City Manager, Management Analyst, City Planner, and another QK team member
familiar with HCD requirements. The proposals were reviewed for completeness and
evaluated to determine which agency met the greatest number of affordability
requirements (number of units, type of units, target group). Information also considered
during the overall scoring process were type of financing, past performance, type of
property acquisition, and City concessions requested.

The reviewing panel unanimously determined that AMG & Associates (AMG) proposed
the greatest number of affordable units where at least 25% of the units will be affordable
to lower income households (Government Code Section 54227) and scored AMG highest
overall due in part to type of property acquisition offered and City financial concessions
requested. Staff contacted AMG and began conducting verbal negotiations within the
parameters of the SLA Guidelines during the remainder of the 90-day period.

At the end of the 90-day negotiation period, AMG requested a good faith letter so that
their team could continue to move forward with negotiations. On June 6, 2022, the City
Manager provided a letter of intent to negotiate to sell surplus property for an affordable
housing project and a duly held meeting on October 4, 2022, the City Council adopted
Resolution No. 2022-38 accepting AMG’s offer for the sale and development of the
surplus land and authorized the City Manager to enter escrow for sale of the property.

Staff have been working with AMG to finalize the timeline, site plan, and development
agreement required to complete the sale of the property. AMG submitted an application
and fees for major site plan review on October 14, 2022, and during a duly noticed public
hearing held on November 14, 2022, the Planning Commission considered public
comment for Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05 to construct the affordable housing
complex consisting of 108 residential units with a community building, laundry building,
outdoor pool, tot lot, and dog park, with access from D Street and Oleander Avenue.
Testimony was received during the public comment portion of the hearing from two
neighboring property owners who expressed concern regarding the possibility of
increased on-street parking and the lack of access from D Street to the east side of
Oleander Avenue. Staff provided clarification and the Commission unanimously adopted

28



Planning Commission Resolution No. 2022-12, approving the site plan as submitted. The
Commission also approved a determination that the project is exempt from further review
under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) based on Categorical Exemption
Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532),

City Council approval of the development agreement is the final step in the process prior
to submittal of the disposition summary to the Department of Housing and Community
Development HCD for acceptance for the sale and development of the Surplus Land and
close of escrow.

Financial Consideration(s):

Financial concessions were not requested by the buyer. Sale of the surplus land to AMG
will increase the Housing funds available for future projects. Additional funds are
proposed to be available to the City for off-site sidewalk repair/installation and bike lanes
that would otherwise rely on the City’s CIP budget.

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Pros:

e Development of vacant land that is not suitable for the City’s use.

e Increase to Housing funds for future projects and or assistance loans.

e Increase the number of affordable housing units as required by the State.

e Developer has constructed several successful affordable housing developments
in Lemoore.

e Additional funds are proposed to be available for sidewalk and bike lane repair and
infrastructure within a mile radius of the project site.

Cons:

e Negative perception of affordable housing.

Commission/Board Recommendation:

The Planning Commission approved Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05, which included
the site plan, floor plans, and elevation plans of the proposed project, and approved a
determination that the project is exempt from further review under CEQA based on
Categorical Exemption Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532).

Staff Recommendation:

Staff recommends City Council adopt the resolution approved the DDA and authorizing
the City Manager, or designee, to sign the DDA and associated documents to complete
the sale of City owned surplus land for the purpose of constructing affordable housing.

29



Attachments:

Review: Date:
Resolution: Asst. City Manager 12/27/2022
[J Ordinance: City Attorney 12/28/2022
0 Map City Manager 12/28/2022
[J Contract [ City Clerk
Other [J Finance

List: Disposition and Development Agreement for Approval
City Council Resolution No. 2021-31
Notice of Availability/Offer to Sell Surplus Property (January 31, 2022)
AMG & Associates Proposal Information
City Council Resolution No. 2022-38
Planning Commission Resolution No. 2022-12
Site Plan and Rendering

30



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-02

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE
APPROVING DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN CITY OF LEMOORE AND AMG & ASSOCIATES FOR THE SALE OF
CITY OWNED SURPLUS LAND (APNS 023-020-065 AND 023-020-064)

AND AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT
AND ASSOCIATED DOCUMENTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONSTRUCTING
AFFORDABLE HOUSING ON THE PROPERTY

WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore (“City”) is the owner in fee simple of that certain real
property located at the southeast corner of East D Street and Smith Avenue in the City of Lemoore
(APNs 023-020-065 and 023-020-064) totaling 4.92 acres and shown on the vicinity map in
Exhibit “A”, attached hereto and made a part hereof (“Property”); and

WHEREAS, in conformance with the Surplus Property Land Act, Government Code
Sections 54220-54233 (“Act”), the City Council took formal action in a regular public meeting on
December 7, 2021, declaring the that the Property is surplus and not necessary for the City’s use;
and

WHEREAS, the City sent a written notice of availability of the Property to certain
designated entities on January 31, 2022, and provided a 60-day response period, and

WHEREAS, the City received three proposals from three affordable housing developers
for acquisition and development of the surplus land, and

WHEREAS, the City reviewed the proposals per Surplus Land Act Guidelines, and

WHEREAS, the City Council took formal action in a regular public meeting on October 7,
2022, accepting the AMG & Associates offer for the sale and development of the City owned
Surplus Land, and

WHEREAS, a duly noticed public hearing was held during a regular meeting of the
Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore on November 14, 2022, to consider public comment
for Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05, which formally proposed construction of an affordable
housing apartment complex consisting of 108 residential units with a community building, laundry
building, outdoor pool, tot lot, and dog park; and

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission took formal action in a regular public meeting on
November 14, 2022, approving Major Site Plan Review No. 2022-05 and approved a
determination that the project is exempt from further review under the California Environmental
Quality Act (CEQA) based on Categorical Exemption Class 32 (CEQA Guidelines Section 15532),
and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the City Council approves the disposition and
development agreement between the City of Lemoore and AMG & Associates for the sale and
development of the City owned Surplus Land.

31



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the City Council of the City of Lemoore hereby authorizes
the City Manager, or designee, to sign disposition and development agreement and associated
documents for the purpose of constructing affordable housing on the Property.

Passed and adopted at a Regular Meeting of the City Council of the City of Lemoore held on
January 3, 2023, by the following votes:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
ATTEST: APPROVED:
Marisa Avalos Patricia Matthews

City Clerk Mayor

32



..umf‘i ‘.L;

: ‘l‘l.!sgL QI&:&I“-‘IL-J}L}”‘
mnnuu-.l g ¥ 087 TI00G
-_51 .;uﬂ:;]l.lf?u.#j

“,rra‘ —r——*"-“’rr‘ﬁr-

Fe.& ;..J Ja 40y !1 M
fl | 1 A._l,:
RN Ii:;;t

?-—:'r*"‘r‘fr“'f’l N

ol e | bl dal{ B

- - ‘-!"" -

i

: I
» - 1
|

!

|

L]

e LR
B :.T ‘il “‘"1
o AR T |t* I:;
:t.‘lF 08 vgs; 1 )
= o 0N i '....‘ 2‘.

)

> Tl
f” o7

o e

-t

P L
]

R N

i ‘:, -

*

¢

-1
[

L“

City of
Lo Exhibit “A”

33



RECORDED AT THE REQUEST OF AND
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:

City of Lemoore

Community Development Department
711 W. Cinnamon Drive

Lemoore, CA 93245

SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR RECORDER’S USE ONLY

This Agreement is recorded at the request and for the benefit of the City of Lemoore and
is exempt from the payment of a recording fee pursuant to Government Code Section 6103.

CITY OF LEMOORE,
a municipal corporation

By:

Nathan Olson
City Manager

Dated:

DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
By and Among

CITY OF LEMOORE
a municipal corporation

and

AMG & ASSOCIATES, LLC

34



Table of Contents

35



mgo QW

Legal Description of Property
Affordable Housing Covenants
Grant Deed

Development Schedule

Form of Certificate of Completion

Exhibits

36



THIS DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered
into effective as of , 2023 (“Effective Date”) by and between the City of Lemoore, a
California municipal corporation, (“City”) and AMG & Associates, a California limited liability
company (“Developer”). City and Developer are hereinafter individually referred to as “Party”
and collectively referred to as the “Parties.”

RECITALS
A. There is a great demand for affordable rental homes, particularly for low and very
low income citizens in Lemoore.
B. City desires to cause the development of up to one hundred eight (108) units of

extremely low, very low, and low income family rental housing to include twelve (12) one-
bedroom units, sixty (60) two-bedroom units, and thirty-six (36) three-bedroom units
(“Project”).

C. City owns two (2) parcels of real property, identified as APN 023-020-064 (2.92
acres in size) and APN 023-020-065 (2 acres in size), located at the southeast corner of Smith
Avenue and D Street, aggregating 4.92 acres (“Property”), and more particularly described in
Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference, to serve as the future site of
the Project.

D. In accordance with the California Surplus Land Act, City made the Property
available for sale and private development, and Developer expressed an interest in purchasing
the Property to construct the Project as described more particularly in Section V.2. herein, and
the Affordable Housing Covenants attached hereto as Exhibit B, which shall be executed
substantially concurrently herewith and recorded against the Property.

Ef Developer is an experienced residential developer and City has determined that
development of the Property as the “Smith Avenue Family Apartments” are in the best interest of
the City, the health, safety, and welfare of its residents, and will serve the public purpose in the
City.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein
and good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby
acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows.

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

I.1.  Definitions. The following terms shall have the meanings set forth in the Sections

referenced below whenever used in this Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto. Additional
terms are defined in the Recitals and the text of this Agreement.

37



(a) “Affordable Housing Covenants” is defined Recital D.
(b) “Certificate of Completion” is defined in Section V.15.
(¢) “City” is defined in the Preamble.

(d) “Claims” is defined as liability, loss, cost, expense (including without
limitation attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation), claim, demand, action, suit, judicial or
administrative proceeding, penalty, deficiency, fine, order, and damage that arises as a result of
the actions of Developer or City or any of the agents of the foregoing in relation to and in the
reasonable scope of this Project.

(e) “Conditions of Approval” is defined in Section V.2.
® “Construction Plans” is defined in Section V8.

(2) “Developer” is defined in the Preamble.

(h) “Environmental Laws” is defined in Section 1X.6.

(i) “Hazardous Materials™ is defined in Section IX.5.

1)) “Improvements” is defined in Section V.2.

(k) “Indemnitees” is defined as City and its respective elected and appointed

officers, officials, employees, agents, consultants, and contractors.

()] “Official Records” means the official records of Kings County, as
maintained by the Kings County Clerk/Recorder’s Office.

(m)  “Project” is defined in Recital B and further described in Section V.2.
(n) “Property” is defined in Recital C.
(0) “Purchase Price” is defined in Section IV.2.

P “Transfer” is defined in Section VIIL.2

ARTICLE 11
REPRESENTATIONS; EFFECTIVE DATE

II.1.  City’s Representations. City represents and warrants to Developer as follows:

(a) Authority. The City has the full right, power and lawful authority to
acquire, grant, sell and convey the Property as provided herein, and the execution, performance

38



and delivery of this Agreement by the City has been fully authorized by all requisite actions on
the part of the City.

(b) FIRPTA. City is not a "foreign person" within the parameters of FIRPTA
or any similar state statute, or is exempt from the provisions of FIRPTA or any similar state
statute, or that City has complied and will comply with all the requirements under FIRPTA or
any similar state statute.

() No Conflict. To the best of the City's knowledge, the City's execution,
delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a default or
a breach under any contract, agreement or order to which the City is a party or by which it is
bound.

(d) Litigation. To the best of the City’s knowledge, there are no actions, suits,
material claims, legal proceedings or any other proceedings affecting the Property, or any portion
thereof, at law or in equity, before any court or governmental agency, domestic or foreign.

I1.2. Developer’s Representations. Developer represents and warrants to City as
follows, and Developer covenants that until the expiration or earlier termination of this
Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would cause any of the warranties and
representations in this Section II.1 not to be true, Developer shall immediately give written
notice of such fact or condition to City. Developer acknowledges that City shall rely upon
Developer’s representations made herein notwithstanding any investigation made by or on behalf
of City.

(a) Authority. Developer is a limited partnership, duly organized and in good
standing under the laws of the State of California. Developer has the full right, power and
authority to undertake all obligations of Developer as provided herein, and the execution,
performance and delivery of this Agreement by Developer has been duly authorized by all
requisite actions. The persons executing this Agreement on behalf of Developer have been duly
authorized to do so. This Agreement constitutes valid and binding obligations of Developer,
enforceable in accordance with their respective terms.

(b)  Experience. Developer is an experienced developer and operator of
residential properties.

(c) No Conflict. Developer’s execution, delivery, and performance of its
obligations under this Agreement will not constitute a default or a breach under any contract,
agreement or order to which Developer is a party or by which it is bound.

(d) No Litigation or Other Proceeding. No litigation or other proceeding
(whether administrative or otherwise) is outstanding or has been threatened which would
prevent, hinder or delay the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

(e) No Developer Bankruptcy. Developer is not the subject of a bankruptcy
or insolvency proceeding.

39



® FIRPTA. Developer is not a “foreign person” within the parameters of
Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (“FIRPTA”) or any similar state statute or
is exempt from the provisions of FIRPTA or any similar state statute, or that Developer has
complied and will comply with all the requirements under FIRPTA or any similar state statute.

(2) Patriot Act. Developer is in compliance with all laws, statutes, rules, and
regulations, and any federal, state, and local governmental authority applicable to Developer and
all beneficial owners of Developer with respect to or arising out of the requirements of any
orders and other similar requirements contained in the rules and regulations (“Orders”) of the
Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). Neither Developer nor any beneficial owner of
Developer: (i) is listed on OFAC’s Sanctions Lists (“Lists™); (i1) has been determined by
competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions contained in any Orders; or (iii) is owned or
controlled by, not acts for, or on behalf of, any person of entity on the Lists or any other person
or entity who has been determined by competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions
contained in the Orders.

(h) Deliveries. All documents, instruments, and other information delivered
by Developer to City pursuant to this Agreement are, to the best of Developer’s knowledge, true,
correct, and complete.

(i) Commissions. To the best of Developer’s knowledge, there are no
broker’s commissions or finder’s fees payable in connection with Property.

I1.3. Effective Date. The obligations of Developer and City hereunder shall be
effective as of the Effective Date.

ARTICLE IIT
TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

III.1. Failure to Commence Construction of Project. Failure of Developer to acquire the
“Property” and pursue financing as outlined in Exhibit D “Development Schedule” will result in
termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV
DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY

IV.1. Purchase and Sale. Provided that all conditions precedent set forth in this
Agreement have been satisfied, City shall convey to Developer by “Grant Deed,” substantially in
the form of Exhibit C, the fee interest in the Property in accordance with and subject to the terms
and conditions of this Agreement, free and clear of all title defects, liens and encumbrances
except:

(a) The provisions and effect of any City plans or requirements.

(b) The provisions and effect of this Agreement.

40



(¢) Liens for non-delinquent taxes, assessments, and/or bonds.

(d) Title exceptions set forth in the Preliminary Title Report for the Property
issued by First American Title Company as of June 10, 2022.

(e) Such other conditions, liens, encumbrances, restrictions, easements, and
exceptions as Developer may approve in writing (“Permitted Exceptions™); provided, however,
that Developer hereby approves the following Permitted Exceptions:

(i) Property interests held by a public body or public bodies, including
without limitation easements, franchises, licenses, or other property interests of the public body
or public bodies, on the Property and/or within the public rights-of-way around the perimeter of
the Property

(ii) The lien of any non-delinquent property taxes and assessments (to
be prorated at the Closing).

(iii)  Any incidental easements or other matters affecting title which do
not preclude Developer's use of the Property as proposed herein.

(iv)  Such other exceptions to title as may hereafter be mutually
approved by the City and the Developer.

Following the Effective Date, absent the consent of Developer, City shall not
cause or voluntarily agree to allow a lien or other encumbrance which would remain effective
following conveyance of the Property to attach to the Property.

IV.2. Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Property is to be fair market value and
an amount not to exceed Nine Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($950,000.00). Developer shall
deposit into Escrow an earnest money deposit in the amount of Twenty Five Thousand Dollars
($25,000), as defined below, within three (3) working days of opening escrow.

IV.3. Escrow. Within (3) working days after signing of this Agreement by both parties,
escrow shall be open at the office of First American Title Company, 211 East Caldwell Avenue,
Visalia, CA 93277, attention Ann A. Kay (“Title Company” or “Escrow Agent”) in order to
consummate the conveyance of the Property to Developer and the closing of escrow (“Closing”)
for the transactions contemplated hereby.

IV.4. Costs of Closing and Escrow. Developer shall pay all costs associated with
removing any debt encumbering the Property and for all title insurance premiums for policies
Developer may elect to acquire for the Property. All other Closing and Escrow costs, including
without limitation, all title insurance premiums for policies Developer elects to acquire, shall be
also paid by Developer.

IV.5. Escrow Instructions. This Agreement constitutes the joint escrow instructions of
the Developer and the City, and the Escrow Agent to whom these instructions are delivered is

41



hereby empowered to act under this Agreement. The parties hereto agree to do all acts
reasonably necessary to close this Escrow in the shortest possible time. Insurance policies for fire
or casualty are not to be transferred, and the City will cancel its own policies after the Closing.
All funds received in the Escrow shall be deposited with other escrow funds in a general escrow
account(s) and may be transferred to any other such escrow trust account in any State or National
Bank doing business in the State of California. All disbursements shall be made by check from
such account.

If in the opinion of either party it is necessary or convenient in order to accomplish the
Closing, such party may require that the parties sign supplemental escrow instructions; provided
that if there is any inconsistency between this Agreement and the supplemental escrow
instructions, then the provisions of this Agreement shall control. The parties agree to execute
such other and further documents as may be reasonably necessary, helpful or appropriate to
effectuate the provisions of this Agreement. The Closing shall take place as set forth in Section
1G. The Escrow Agent is instructed to release the City's escrow closing statement and the
Developer's escrow closing statement to the respective parties.

IV.6. Authority of Escrow Agent. Escrow Agent is authorized to, and shall:

(a) Pay and charge the City for the premium of the Title Policy and any
endorsements thereto as set forth in Section IV.10(i) and any amount necessary to place title in
the condition necessary to satisfy the conditions of same.

(b)  Pay and charge the Developer and the City for their respective shares of
any escrow fees, charges, and costs payable under Section IV 4. of this Agreement.

() Disburse funds and deliver and record the Grant Deed, and the
Affordability Covenants, when both the Developer Conditions Precedent and the City Conditions
Precedent have been fulfilled or waived by the Developer and the City.

(d) Do such other actions as necessary, including obtaining the Title Policy, to
fulfill its obligations under this Agreement.

(e) Do such other actions as necessary to comply with any federal, state, or
local reporting requirements, including directing the City and the Developer to execute any
required forms, statements or certificates.

IV.7. Closing. This transaction shall close escrow ("Closing") after the satisfaction of
all of the City and Developer Conditions Precedent to Closing as set forth in Sections IV.10 and
IV.11 of this Agreement, but in no event later than one hundred and eighty days (180) after
Escrow is opened (the "Closing Deadline"), unless otherwise extended by written agreement of
the parties. The Closing shall occur at a location within Kings County at a time and place
reasonably agreed to by the parties. The Closing shall mean the time and day the Grant Deed is
filed for record with the Kings County Recorder. The "Closing Date" shall mean the day on
which the Closing occurs.

42



IV.8. Closing Procedure. The Escrow Agent shall close Escrow for the Property as
follows:

(a) Record the Grant Deed with instructions for the Recorder of Kings County,
California to deliver the Grant Deed to the Developer.

(b) Record the Affordability Covenants (Exhibit B) with instructions for the
Recorder of Kings County, California to deliver the Affordability Covenants to the City.

(c) Instruct the First American Title Company to deliver the Title Policy to the
Developer and a copy of the Title Policy to the City.

(d) File and deliver any informational reports, forms, statements, and
certificates as required by federal, state or local law.

(e) Forward to both the Developer and the City a separate accounting of all
funds received and disbursed for each party and copies of all executed and recorded or filed
documents deposited into Escrow, with such recording and filing date and information endorsed
thereon.

IV.9. City’s Conditions to Closing. City’s obligation to proceed with the Closing is
subject to satisfaction or waiver by City of all of the following conditions:
(a) No Default. Prior to the Closing, Developer is not in default under the
terms of this Agreement, and all representations and warranties of Developer are true and correct
in all material respects.

(b) Execution of Documents. Developer has executed and acknowledged this
Agreement, all attachments hereto, and all other documents required hereunder, and shall have
delivered all such documents to City or into Escrow.

() Payment of Funds. Prior to the Closing, the Developer shall have
deposited the Purchase Price and all required costs of the Closing into Escrow in accordance
with Sections IV.2. and IV 4.

(d)  Financing. The City shall have approved financing, or proof of financial
capacity to complete the Improvements, as provided in Section VIII.1 hereof, and such financing
shall have closed and funded or be ready to close and fund upon the Closing.

(e) Insurance. The Developer shall have provided proof of insurance as
required by Article XI hereof.

® Satisfaction of Conditions Precedent. Developer has satisfied all other
conditions precedent to Closing.

43



IV.10. Developer’s Conditions to Closing. Developer’s obligation to proceed with the
Closing is subject to satisfaction or waiver by Developer of the following conditions:

(2) No Default. City is not in Default under the terms of this Agreement, and
all representations and warranties of City contained herein shall be true and correct in all
material respects.

(h)  Execution of Documents. City has executed and acknowledged this
Agreement, all attachments hereto, and all other documents required hereunder, and has
delivered such documents into Escrow.

(i) Developer’s Title Policy. The Title Company shall, upon payment of the
premium therefor by Developer, be ready to issue an Owner’s American Land Title Association
title policy for the benefit of Developer, showing title to the Property vested in Developer,
subject only to the Permitted Exceptions and including such endorsements as Developer may
reasonably request. The Title Policy shall be for the amount of the Purchase Price. The Title
Company shall provide the City with a copy of the Title Policy. The Developer shall be
responsible for the cost of providing title insurance.

IV.11. Termination of Escrow. If Escrow is not in a condition to close by the Closing
Deadline set forth in the supplemental Escrow instructions, then either party which has fully
performed under this Agreement may, in writing, demand termination of Escrow. Under these
circumstances, the Escrow Agent shall return all money, papers and documents deposited in
Escrow to the respective depositing party. The City is hereby entitled to receive the Twenty-Five
Thousand Dollar ($25,000) earnest money deposit upon any termination of escrow as liquidated
damages. If either party makes a written demand for termination of Escrow, the Escrow shall not
terminate until ten (10) days after the Escrow Agent shall have delivered copies of such demand
to the other party at the address shown in this Agreement. If any objections are raised within that
ten (10) day period, the Escrow Agent is authorized to hold all money, papers, and documents
until instructed by a court of competent jurisdiction or by mutual written instructions of the
parties. Termination of the Escrow shall be without prejudice as to whatever legal rights either
party may have against the other arising from this Agreement. If no demands are made, the
Escrow Agent shall proceed with the Closing as soon as possible.

ARTICLE V
DEVELOPMENT OF THE PROJECT

V.1. The Property. City represents and warrants that as of the Effective Date: (a) City
owns a fee simple interest in the Property; and (b) the Property is subject to no covenant,
condition, restriction or agreement that would prevent the development of the Project in
accordance with this Agreement. If at any time the foregoing statements become untrue, City
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Developer.

V.2. Scope of Development. Developer shall develop the Project in accordance with
the terms and conditions of this Agreement and in compliance with the terms and conditions of

44



all approvals, entitlements and permits that City or any other governmental body or entity with
jurisdiction over the Project or the Property has granted or issued as of the date hereof or may
hereafter grant or issue in connection with development of the Project, including without
limitation, all requirements set forth in the Affordable Housing Covenants, all mitigation
measures imposed in connection with environmental review of the Project and all conditions of
approval imposed in connection with any entitlements, approvals or permits (all of the foregoing
approvals, entitlements, permits, mitigation measures, and conditions of approval are hereafter
collectively referred to as the “Conditions of Approval”).

(a) The Project will consist of one hundred eight (108) units of affordable
family housing rental units targeting extremely low, very low, and low-income families
“Improvements”.

(b)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the
construction of the Project is expressly conditioned upon compliance with the California
Environmental Quality Act, California Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., guidelines,
and implementing regulations, all as amended from time to time (“CEQA”) and/or the National
Environmental Protection Act of 1969, 42 U.S.C. Section 4321 et seq., guidelines, and
implementing regulations, all as amended from time to time (“NEPA”), as the same may be
applicable to the Project. Necessary CEQA and NEPA studies and reports have been completed,
all necessary NEPA approvals have been obtained, necessary notices have been filed and statute
of limitations have expired. No physical activity, not otherwise exempt from CEQA or NEPA,
as applicable, shall commence on the Property without such compliance.

V.3. Project Approvals. Developer acknowledges and agrees that execution of this
Agreement by City does not constitute approval for the purpose of the issuance of building
permits for the construction of the Project, does not limit in any manner the discretion of City in
such approval process, and does not relieve Developer from the obligation to apply for and
obtain all necessary entitlements, approvals, and permits for the construction of the Project,
including without limitation, the approval of architectural plans, the issuance of any certificates
regarding historic resources required in connection with the Project (if any), and the completion
of any required environmental review.

(a) Developer covenants that it shall:

(i) Obtain all necessary permits and approvals which may be required
by City, or any other governmental City having jurisdiction over the construction of the Project
or the development of the Property.

(ii) Comply with all Conditions of Approval.

(iii)  Comply with all mitigation measures imposed in connection with
any environmental review of the Project.

(iv)  Not commence construction work on the Project prior to issuance
of building permits required for such work.

45



(b) City staff shall work cooperatively with Developer to assist in
coordinating the expeditious processing and consideration of all permits, entitlements, and
approvals necessary for development of the Project.

V4. Fees. Developer shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay when due,
all customary and usual fees and charges of City in connection with obtaining building permits
and other approvals for the Project, including without limitation, those related to the processing
and consideration of amendments, if any, to the current entitlements, any related approvals and
permits, environmental review, design review, architectural review, and any subsequent
approvals for the Project or the development of the Property.

V.5. Cost of Construction. Except as expressly set forth herein, Developer shall be
solely responsible for all direct and indirect costs and expenses incurred in connection with the
design, development and construction of the Project and compliance with the Conditions of
Approval, including without limitations, the installation and construction of all off-site or on-site
improvements required by City in connection therewith.

V.6. Rights of Access. For the purpose of ensuring that the Project is developed in
compliance with this Agreement, Developer shall permit representatives of City to enter upon the
Property to inspect the Project following forty-eight (48) hours written notice. Developer shall
have the right to accompany any City representative performing an inspection of the Project.

V.7. City Disclaimer. Developer acknowledges that City has the right to monitor,
review, supervise, or inspect the progress of construction or the operation of the Project.
Notwithstanding such right, Developer and all third parties shall rely on its or their own
supervision and inspection in determining the quality and suitability of the materials and work,
the performance of architects, subcontractors, and material suppliers, and all other matters
relating to the construction and operation of the Project. Any review or inspection undertaken by
City is solely for the purpose of determining whether Developer is properly discharging its
obligations under this Agreement, and shall not be relied upon by Developer or any third party as
a warranty or representation by City as to the quality of the design or construction of the
Improvements or otherwise.

V.8. Construction Plans. Prior to commencement of Project construction, and in
accordance with the Schedule of Performance attached hereto as Exhibit D, Developer shall
submit to City’s Building Department detailed construction plans for the development of the
Project (“Construction Plans”). “Construction Plans” means all construction documents upon
which Developer and Developer’s contractors shall rely in constructing the Project (including the
landscaping, parking, and common areas) and shall include, without limitation, the site
development plan, final architectural drawings, detailed construction plans, landscaping, exterior
lighting and signage plans and specifications, materials specifications, final elevations, and
building plans and specifications. The Construction Plans shall be based upon the scope of
development set forth herein and upon the approvals issued by City for the Project and shall not
materially deviate therefrom without the express written consent of City. Provided that the

46



Construction Plans are consistent with the requirements of this Agreement, approval of the
Construction Plans by City staff shall be deemed approval thereof by City.

V.9. City Review and Approval. City shall have the right to review and reasonably
approve the Construction Plans in its sole and reasonable discretion. Developer acknowledges
and agrees that City approval is required in order to satisfy City’s obligation to promote the
sound development and redevelopment of land within the former redevelopment project area, to
promote a high level of design which will impact the surrounding development, and to provide
an environment for the social, economic and psychological growth and well-being of the citizens
of the City.

In the event that City disapproves of any portion of the Construction Plans, it shall
state in writing the reasons for such disapproval. Developer, upon receipt of a disapproval based
upon powers reserved by the City hereunder, shall revise such portions and resubmit to City by
the time established therefor in the Schedule of Performance. Developer shall not be entitled to
any monetary damages or compensation as a result of the City’s disapproval or failure to approve
or disapprove the Construction Plans.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to contrary effect, the times for
review and action upon the Constructions Plans by City shall not be deemed to be commenced
unless and until the corresponding submittals by Developer are complete.

V.10. Consultation and Coordination. City and Developer shall hold regular progress
meetings to coordinate the preparation of, submission to, and review of the Construction Plans.
City and Developer shall communicate and consult informally as frequently as is necessary to
ensure that the formal submittal of any documents to City can receive prompt and thorough
consideration. City shall designate an employee to serve as the project manager who is response
for the coordination of City’s activities under this Agreement and for expediting any land use
approval and permitting process.

V.11. Construction Pursuant to Plans. Developer shall develop the Project in
accordance with the approved Construction Plans, the Conditions of Approval, and all other
permits and approvals granted by City pertaining to construction of the Project. Developer shall
comply with all directions, rules and regulations of any fire marshal, health officer, building
inspector or other officer of every governmental entity having jurisdiction over the Property or
the Project. Each element of the work shall proceed only after procurement of each permit,
license or other authorization that may be required for such element by any governmental entity
having jurisdiction. All design and construction work on the Project shall be performed by
licensed contractors, engineers, or architects, as applicable.

V.12. Changes in Construction Plans. If Developer desires to make any material change
in the approved Construction Plans, Developer shall submit the proposed change in writing to
City in accordance with its standard review process. Approval of changes to the Construction
Plans by City shall be deemed approved thereof by City. Nothing in this Section is intended to
or shall be deemed to modify City’s standard plan review procedures.

47



V.13. Defects in Plans. City shall not be responsible to Developer or to any third party
for any defect in the Construction Plans or for any structural or other defect in any work done
pursuant to the Construction Plans. Subject to the last sentence of this Section V.13., Developer
shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees from
and against all Claims arising out of, or relating to, or alleged to arise from or relate to defects in
the Construction Plans or defects in any work done pursuant to the Construction Plans whether
or not any insurance policies shall have been determined to be applicable to any such Claims.
Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall survive the expiration or
earlier termination of this Agreement and the recordation of a Certificate of Completion and shall
be assumed by any successor to Developer’s interest in this Agreement. It is further agreed that
City shall not waive any rights against Developer which they may have by reason of this
indemnity and hold harmless agreement because of the acceptance by City, or Developer’s
deposit with City of any of the insurance policies described in this Agreement. Developer’s
indemnification obligations pursuant to this Section shall not extend to Claims to the extent
arising due to the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees. Developer’s
indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall not apply to any Construction Plans that
are not used by or on behalf of Developer or any entity affiliated with Developer, including
without limitation, an entity that is under the direct control of Developer (“Controlled
Affiliate”), or an under common control with Developer. In addition, if City uses any of the
Construction Plans (or permits a third party to use such Construction Plans), City agrees to
release Developer from liability for Claims arising in connection with such use except to the
extent any such Claim arises from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Developer or
Developer’s employees, agents, or representatives.

V.14. Schedule of Performance. Developer shall submit all Construction Plans in
accordance with Exhibit D under the established timeline, as it shall be deemed a material part of
this Agreement.

V.15. Certificate of Completion for Project. Promptly after completion of construction
of the Project, issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy by City and the written request of
Developer, City will provide an instrument (“Certificate of Completion) substantially similar
to the Form of Certificate of Completion shown in Exhibit E attached hereto, so certifying,
provided that at the time such certificate is requested all applicable components of the Project
have been completed.

(a) The Certificate of Completion shall be conclusive evidence that Developer
has satisfied its obligations regarding the development of the Property.

(b) At Developer’s option, the Certificate of Completion shall be recorded in
the Official Records. The Certificate of Completion shall not constitute evidence of compliance
with or satisfaction of any obligation of Developer to any holder of a deed of trust or mortgage
securing money loaned to finance the Project or any part thereof and shall not be deemed a
notice of completion under the California Civil Code, nor shall such Certificate provide evidence
that Developer has satisfied any obligation that survives the expiration of this Agreement,

48



including without limitation, Developer’s obligations pursuant to the Affordable Housing
Covenants.

V.16. Equal Opportunity. During the construction of the Project, there shall be no
discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, age, sexual orientation, marital
status, pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, medical condition (cancer related) or
physical or mental disability, ancestry, or national origin in the hiring, firing, promoting or
demoting of any person engaged in construction of the Project, and Developer shall direct its
contractors and subcontractors to refrain from discrimination on such basis.

V.17. Compliance with Laws. In connection with development and construction of the
Project, Developer shall comply, and shall cause its contractors to comply with all applicable
federal, state and local laws, rules, ordinances and regulations, including without limitation, all
applicable federal and state labor laws and standards, applicable provisions of the California
Public Contracts Code (if any), City zoning and development standards, building, plumbing,
mechanical and electrical codes, all other provisions of City's Municipal Code, and all applicable
disabled and handicapped access requirements, including without limitation, applicable
provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101, et seq., Government
Code Section 4450, et seq., Government Code Section 11135, et seq., and the Unruh Civil Rights
Act, Civil Code Section 51, et seq. and California Labor Code section 1720. Developer shall
indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees from and
against any and all Claims arising in connection with the breach of Developer’s obligations set
forth in this Section whether or not any insurance policies shall have been determined to be
applicable to any such Claims. It is further agreed that City shall not waive any rights against
Developer which they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement
because of the acceptance by City, or Developer’s deposit with City of any of the insurance
policies described in this Agreement. Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this
Section shall not apply to Claims to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of the Indemnitees. Developer’s defense and indemnification obligations set forth
in this Section V.17. shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement and the
issuance of a Certificate of Completion for the Project.

V.18. Liens and Stop Notices. Until the expiration of the term of the Affordable
Housing Covenants, if a claim of a lien or stop notice is given or recorded affecting the Project
or the Property, Developer shall within thirty (30) days of such recording or service: (a) pay and
discharge (or cause to be paid and discharged) the same; or (b) affect the release thereof by
recording and delivering (or causing to be recorded and delivered) to the party entitled thereto a
surety bond in sufficient form and amount; or (c) provide other assurance satisfactory to City that
the claim of lien or stop notice will be paid or discharged. The provisions of this Section V.18.
shall apply from and after Developer’s acquisition of a fee simple interest in the Property.

V.19. Right of City to Satisfy Liens on the Property. If Developer fails to satisfy or
discharge any lien or stop notice on the Property pursuant to and within the time period set forth
in Section V.18 above, City shall have the right, but not the obligation, to satisfy any such liens
or stop notices at Developer’s expense with prior written notice to Developer. In such event

49



Developer shall be liable for and shall immediately reimburse City for such paid lien or stop
notice. Alternatively, City may require Developer to immediately deposit with City the amount
necessary to satisfy such lien or claim pending resolution thereof. City may use such deposit to
satisfy any claim or lien that is adversely determined against Developer. Developer shall file a
valid notice of cessation or notice of completion upon cessation of construction of the
Improvements for a continuous period of thirty (30) days or more, and shall take all other
reasonable steps to forestall the assertion of claims or liens against the Property or the
Improvements. City may (but has no obligation to), with prior written notice to Developer,
record any notices of completion or cessation of labor, or any other notice that City deems
necessary or desirable to protect its interest in the Property and the Improvements.

V.20. Performance and Payment Bonds. Prior to commencement of construction work
on the Project, Developer shall cause its general contractor to deliver to City copies of payment
bond(s) and performance bond(s) issued by a reputable insurance company licensed to do
business in California, each in a penal sum of not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the
scheduled cost of construction of the Project. The bonds shall name City and Developer as co-
obligees. In lieu of such performance and payment bonds, subject to City’s approval of the form
and substance thereof, Developer may submit evidence satisfactory to City of the contractor’s
ability to commence and complete construction of the Project in the form of an irrevocable letter
of credit, pledge of cash deposit, certificate of deposit, or other marketable securities held by a
broker or other financial institution, with signature authority of City required for any withdrawal,
or a completion guaranty in a form and from a guarantor acceptable to City. Such evidence must
be submitted to City in approvable form in sufficient time to allow for City’s review and
approval prior to the scheduled construction start date.

V.21. Insurance Requirements. Developer shall maintain and shall cause its contractors
to maintain all applicable insurance coverage specified in Article XI.

ARTICLE VI
USE OF THE PROPERTY

VI.1. Use; Affordable Housing. Developer covenants and agrees for itself and its
successors and assigns that the Property shall be used for the development and operation of a
multi-family residential project, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
the Affordable Housing Covenants (Exhibit B), and City Municipal Code. The foregoing
covenants shall run with the land.

VI.2. Maintenance. Developer, at its own expense, shall maintain the Property, the
Improvements and related landscaping and common areas in good physical condition, in good
repair, and in decent, safe, sanitary, habitable and tenantable living conditions in conformity with
all applicable state, federal, and local laws, ordinances, codes, and regulations. Without limiting
the foregoing, Developer agrees to maintain the Project and the Property (including without
limitation, the residential units, common areas, landscaping, driveways, parking areas, and
walkways) in a condition free of all waste, nuisance, debris, unmaintained landscaping, graftiti,
disrepair, abandoned vehicles/appliances, and illegal activity, and shall take all reasonable steps

50



to prevent the same from occurring on the Property or at the Project. Developer shall prevent
and/or rectify any physical deterioration of the Property and the Project and shall make all
repairs, renewals and replacements necessary to keep the Property and the improvements located
thereon in good condition and repair. Developer shall provide adequate security for occupants of
the Project. The provisions of this Section VI1.2. shall apply from and after Developer’s
acquisition of the Property.

VI.3. Taxes and Assessments. From and after Developer’s acquisition of the Property,
Developer shall pay all real and personal property taxes, assessments and charges and all
franchise, income, payroll, withholding, sales, and other taxes assessed against the Property or
the Improvements and payable by Developer, at such times and in such manner as to prevent any
penalty from accruing, or any lien or charge from attaching to the Property or the Improvements;
provided, however, that Developer shall have the right to contest in good faith, any such taxes,
assessments, or charges. In the event Developer exercises its right to contest any tax,
assessment, or charge, Developer, on final determination of the proceeding or contest, shall
immediately pay or discharge any decision or judgment rendered against it, together with all
costs, charges, and interest. Developer shall not apply for, or receive, any exemption from the
payment of property taxes or assessments on any interest in, or to, the Property or Improvements.

VI.4. Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination. From and after Developer’s
acquisition of the Property, Developer shall not restrict the rental, sale, lease, sublease, transfer,
use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property or the Improvements, or any portion thereof,
on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, disability, marital status,
ancestry, or national origin of any person. Developer covenants for itself and all persons
claiming under or through it, and this Agreement is made and accepted upon and subject to the
condition that there shall be no discrimination against or segregation of any person or group of
persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision (a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the
Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and
paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and Section 12955.2 of the Government Code,
in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property or part
thereof, nor shall Developer or any person claiming under or through Developer establish or
permit any such practice or practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the
selection, location, number, use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees or
vendees in, of, or for the Property or the Improvements or part thereof. The foregoing covenants
shall run with the land and all deeds, leases, or contracts relative to the Property or the
Improvements shall contain or be subject to nondiscrimination or non-segregation clauses in
conformance with California Health and Safety Code Section 33435 and 33436.

ARTICLE VII
LIMITATIONS ON CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP; MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF
DEVELOPER

VII.1. Change Pursuant to this Agreement. Developer and its principals have
represented that they possess the necessary expertise, skill, and ability to carry out the
development of the Project on the Property pursuant to this Agreement. The qualifications,

51



experience, financial capacity and expertise of Developer and its principals are of particular
concern to City. It is because of these qualifications, experience, financial capacity and expertise
that City has entered into this Agreement with Developer. No voluntary or involuntary
successor, assignee or transferee of Developer shall acquire any rights or powers under this
Agreement, except as expressly provided herein.

VII.2. Prohibition on Transfer. Prior to the expiration of the term of the Affordable
Housing Covenants, Developer shall not, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement,
directly or indirectly voluntarily, involuntarily, or by operation of law make or attempt any total
or partial sale, transfer, conveyance, assignment, or lease (collectively “Transfer”) of the whole
or any part of Developer’s interest in the Property, the Project, the Improvements, or this
Agreement, without the prior written approval of City, which approval shall not be unreasonably
withheld. (The provisions concerning Transfer of the Property, the Project and the
Improvements shall apply commencing upon Developer’s acquisition of a fee simple interest in
the Property.) Any such attempt to assign this Agreement without City’s consent shall be null
and void and shall confer no rights or privileges upon the purported assignee. In addition to the
foregoing, prior to the expiration of the term of the Affordable Housing Covenants, except as
expressly permitted by this Agreement, Developer shall not undergo any significant change of
ownership without the prior written approval of City. For purposes of this Agreement, a
“significant change of ownership” shall mean a transfer of the beneficial interest of more than
twenty-five percent (25%) in aggregate of the present ownership and/or control of Developer,
taking all transfers into account on a cumulative basis; provided however, neither the admission
of an investor limited partner, nor the transfer by the investor limited partner to subsequent
limited partners shall be restricted by this provision.

VIL.3. Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, the
prohibitions set forth in this Article shall not be deemed to prevent any of the following:

(a) The granting of easements or permits to facilitate development of the
Property.

(b)  The lease of individual residences to tenants for occupancy as their
principal residence in accordance with the Affordable Housing Covenants.

(c) Assignments creating security interests for the purpose of financing the
acquisition, construction or permanent financing of the Project or the Property, or Transfers
directly resulting from the foreclosure of, or granting of a deed in lieu of foreclosure of, such a
security interest.

(d) A Transfer to a Controlled Affiliate.

VIL.4. Requirements for Proposed Transfers. City may, in the exercise of its sole
discretion, consent to a proposed Transfer of this Agreement, the Improvements, the Property or
portion thereof if all of the following requirements are met (provided however, the requirements

52



of this Section VIIL.4. shall not apply to Transfers described in clauses (a) through (d) of Section
VIL3.):

(a) The proposed transferee demonstrates to City’s satisfaction that it has the
qualifications, experience and financial resources necessary and adequate as may be reasonably
determined by City to competently complete construction of the Project and to otherwise fulfill
the obligations undertaken by Developer under this Agreement.

(b) Developer and the proposed transferee shall submit for City review and
approval all instruments and other legal documents proposed to affect any Transfer of this
Agreement, the Improvements, the Property or interest therein together with such documentation
of the proposed transferee’s qualifications and development capacity as City may reasonably
request.

(c) The proposed transferee shall expressly assume all of the rights and
obligations of Developer under this Agreement and arising after the effective date of the Transfer
and all obligations of Developer arising prior to the effective date of the Transfer (unless
Developer expressly remains responsible for such obligations) and shall agree to be subject to
and assume all of Developer’s obligations pursuant to the Conditions of Approval and all other
conditions, and restrictions set forth in this Agreement and the Affordable Housing Covenants.

(d) The Transfer shall be effectuated pursuant to a written instrument
satisfactory to City in form recordable in the Official Records.

(e) Consent to any proposed Transfer may be given by the City Manager
unless the City Manager, in his or her discretion, refers the matter of approval to the City
Council. If a proposed Transfer has not been approved by City in writing within thirty (30) days
following City’s receipt of written request by Developer, it shall be deemed rejected.

VII.5. Effect of Transfer without City Consent.

(a) In the absence of specific written agreement by City, no Transfer by
Developer shall be deemed to relieve Developer or any other party from any obligation under
this Agreement.

(b)  Without limiting any othe